
 AGENDA 

(4 minutes each)

Item 3



Next Meeting: Thursday, November 16th, 2023, at 3:00 p.m.



Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 
teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 

electronic meeting notice and instructions 



DRAFT - MINUTES 

(4 minutes each) 

Item 4



.

.

.



.

:

.

.



Next Meeting: Thursday, October 24, 2023, at 3:00 p.m.
Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 

teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 
electronic meeting notice and instructions 



Planning & Development Department

Item 7ai



For Professional Services Rendered Through 9/29/2023

Current Billings 963.75

Amount Due This Bill 963.75

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

GR - General Review 14,000.00 4,629.44 10,334.31 9,370.56 963.75

Rate Labor 963.75

CAS - Contractual Administrative Support 6,000.00 5,396.25 603.75 603.75 0.00

Total Fee : 20,000.00

To Date Billings : 10,938.06

Total Remaining : 9,061.94

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 429022
Invoice Date : 10/9/2023

Project : 230454
Project Name : KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen 

Environmental Review
Bill Term : BT1

Item 7aii



Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   429022

GR - General Review
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Production Support

Shelbey Senkewitz 0.50 70.0000 35.00

Senior Environmental Specialist
David Stegink 2.00 140.0000 280.00

Senior Geologist
Therese Searles 3.75 105.0000 393.75

Staff Environmental Specialist
Logan Mulholland 3.00 85.0000 255.00

Total Rate Labor 963.75

Total Bill Task: GR - General Review 963.75

Total Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review 963.75

Page: 1



Planning & Development Department

Item 7bi



EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)Page 1 of 2

517-284-5169, DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

The following information is required to receive payment for incurred costs.  This form should be separately completed for both grant
and loan projects.  ALL PAGES OF THE FORM MUST BE PROVIDED QUARTERLY WHETHER OR NOT WORK WAS
COMPLETED AND REIMBURSEMENT IS REQUESTED.  Fields that are calculated by the form are shown in brown.

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
GRANT AND LOAN QUARTERLY REPORT
AND PAYMENT REQUEST FORM

PROJECT DETAILS

Grantee / Borrower Name:Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Grant Report Loan Report

Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Tracking Code: 2018-1323 Request #:23

Purchase Order Number: Location Code: 6705

Dates of Reporting: Begin: Jul 1, 2023 End: Sep 30, 2023 Quarter: 4 (July-Sep) Fiscal Year: 2023

Name of Contact Person: Ken Peregon Contract Expires On: Oct 8, 2023

Title of Contact Person: Chairperson, KCBRA Phone Number: +1 (269) 384-8305

Remittance Address: 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue

City: Kalamazoo State Michigan Zip Code: 49007

EXPENDITURES
List all expenditures for the quarter and attach invoices from contractors and subcontractors

Invoice
Number Invoice Date Vendor

Task Number
(refer to approved

work plan)
Amount Proof of Payment (list check

number or other reference)

2258 Sept. 29, 202 Phillips Environmental Consulting Task 6E  $227.50 Pending

BRA-EGLE-
Q4G2023 Sep 29, 2023 Kalamazoo County Planning Dept Task 6E  $642.55 Pending

TOTAL:  $870.05 

PROGRESS REPORT

Task Number

Work plan
Budget

Approved to
Date

Invoiced This
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems

encountered)

1. Assessment
and

Investigation
 $387,892.00  $0.00  $388,151.31 N/A

2. Due Care  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

3. Demolition  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

4. 3rd Party
Oversight  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

5. Grant
Administration  $11,000.00  $0.00  $11,000.00 N/A

6A. 3rd party 
Oversight  $13,208.00  $0.00  $13,107.50 N/A

Item 7bii



Brownfield Redevelopment Grant and Loan Quarterly Report and Payment Request

Page 2 of 2 EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)

Fiscal Year: 2023 Quarter: 4 (July-Sep)Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Report #: 23

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

6B PFAS Soil 
Assess. for 
Waste Mgt.

 $16,000.00  $0.00  $15,583.67 N/A

6C. Grant 
Work Plan 

Prep
 $1,200.00  $0.00  $1,200.00 N/A

6D. Well 
Abandonment
for Due Care

 $20,700.00  $0.00  $16,272.80 N/A

6E.
Contingency
Professional

Services/
Report Writing

 $5,500.00  $870.05  $2,754.42  Admin costs, use of contingency funds, grant close out 
preparation activities. 

TOTALS:  $455,500.00  $870.05  $448,069.70 

Describe proposed activity next quarter including proposed date to complete.
The field below will expand as you type. If additional room is desired, please attach additional sheets to this form.

Complete final documentation all tasks completed under the Grant and grant close-out documents prior to June 30, 2023.

LOAN AWARDS INTEREST EARNED 
LOAN REPORTS ONLY: Interest earned on loan funds disbursed shall be reported in each quarterly progress report with supporting 

documentation. Please check the box below that corresponds to the appropriate statement regarding disbursed loan funds. If you 
cannot select one of the options below, please select "Loan Report" from the top of Page 1.

Our interest statement is attached.

Our loan disbursement is not in an interest-bearing account.

STATEMENT OF REVIEW AND APPROVAL
BY SUBMITTING THIS QUARTERLY REPORT AND CHECKING THE BOX BELOW, THE GRANTEE / BORROWER AND THE 
REPORT SUBMMITTER (IF DIFFERENT) CERTIFY THAT ALL WORK PERFORMED AND THE ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURES 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE REPORT ARE TRUE.  THE GRANTEE / BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT FALSIFICATION OF 
RECORDS MAY RESULT IN THE TERMINATION OF THE GRANT / LOAN CONTRACT AND OTHER APPROPRIATE LEGAL 
REMEDIES.

By checking this box, I, the grantee / borrower, verify that I have reviewed and approve the submitted invoices and 
progress report.

Please type name of individual checking the above statement: Rachael Grover, Planning and Development Director

Please email the completed form and all supporting documentation to your Brownfield Grant and Loan Coordinator and to 
DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

 Note: In order for the submittal to be considered complete and in compliance with the contract: 

Copies of all contractor and subcontractor invoices must be attached. For Loan projects, a bank statement showing the 
balance of the loan funds and interest earned (if any) must also be attached. 

All parts of this form must be completed and submitted quarterly whether or not there have been expenditures.



Invoice
DATE

9/29/2023

INVOICE #

2258

BILL TO

Paper City Development
101 South Main Street
Vicksburg, MI 49097

Phillips Environmental
Consulting Services. Inc.

201 North Michigan Avenue
Vicksburg, MI 49097

PROJECT

1046A - Vicksburg Mill

Grant Task 5 - Administration.

Phone #

269-501-5079

Total

Balance Due

DATE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY RATE AMOUNT

8/18/2023 On site walkover with EGLE and County as required for grant close out. 1.75 130.00 227.50

$227.50

$227.50





EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)Page 1 of 2

517-284-5169, DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

The following information is required to receive payment for incurred costs.  This form should be separately completed for both grant
and loan projects.  ALL PAGES OF THE FORM MUST BE PROVIDED QUARTERLY WHETHER OR NOT WORK WAS
COMPLETED AND REIMBURSEMENT IS REQUESTED.  Fields that are calculated by the form are shown in brown.

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
GRANT AND LOAN QUARTERLY REPORT
AND PAYMENT REQUEST FORM

PROJECT DETAILS

Grantee / Borrower Name:Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Grant Report Loan Report

Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Tracking Code: 2018-1323 Request #:N/A

Purchase Order Number: Location Code: 6705

Dates of Reporting: Begin: Jul 1, 2023 End: Sep 30, 2023 Quarter: 4 (July-Sep) Fiscal Year: 2023

Name of Contact Person: Ken Peregon Contract Expires On: Oct 8, 2025

Title of Contact Person: Chairperson, KCBRA Phone Number: +1 (269) 384-8305

Remittance Address: 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue

City: Kalamazoo State Michigan Zip Code: 49007

EXPENDITURES
List all expenditures for the quarter and attach invoices from contractors and subcontractors

Invoice
Number Invoice Date Vendor

Task Number
(refer to approved

work plan)
Amount Proof of Payment (list check

number or other reference)

BRA-EGLE
GL Q4 2023 Oct 26, 2023 Kalamazoo County Task 5  $234.15 Pending

2257 Sep 29, 2023 Phillips Environmental Task 2C  $260.00 Pending

2256 Sep 29, 2023 Phillips Environmental Task 2G  $715.00 Pending

TOTAL:  $1,209.15 

PROGRESS REPORT

Task Number

Work plan
Budget

Approved to
Date

Invoiced This
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems

encountered)

1. Assessment
and

Investigation
 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

2. Due Care  $755,617.00  $975.00  $376,954.97 N/A

3. Demolition  $407,590.00  $0.00  $392,435.72 N/A

4. 3rd Party
Oversight  $40,000.00  $0.00  $9,732.50 N/A

5. Loan
Administration  $37,500.00  $234.15  $10,336.84 N/A

6. Contingency  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A



Brownfield Redevelopment Grant and Loan Quarterly Report and Payment Request

Page 2 of 2 EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)

Fiscal Year: 2023 Quarter: 4 (July-Sep)Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Report #: N/A

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

TOTALS:  $1,240,707.00  $1,209.15  $789,460.03 

Describe proposed activity next quarter including proposed date to complete.
The field below will expand as you type. If additional room is desired, please attach additional sheets to this form.

Continue Due Care Planning and Documentation during next phase of redevelopment.

LOAN AWARDS INTEREST EARNED 
LOAN REPORTS ONLY: Interest earned on loan funds disbursed shall be reported in each quarterly progress report with supporting 

documentation. Please check the box below that corresponds to the appropriate statement regarding disbursed loan funds. If you 
cannot select one of the options below, please select "Loan Report" from the top of Page 1.

Our interest statement is attached.

Our loan disbursement is not in an interest-bearing account.

STATEMENT OF REVIEW AND APPROVAL
BY SUBMITTING THIS QUARTERLY REPORT AND CHECKING THE BOX BELOW, THE GRANTEE / BORROWER AND THE 
REPORT SUBMMITTER (IF DIFFERENT) CERTIFY THAT ALL WORK PERFORMED AND THE ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURES 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE REPORT ARE TRUE.  THE GRANTEE / BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT FALSIFICATION OF 
RECORDS MAY RESULT IN THE TERMINATION OF THE GRANT / LOAN CONTRACT AND OTHER APPROPRIATE LEGAL 
REMEDIES.

By checking this box, I, the grantee / borrower, verify that I have reviewed and approve the submitted invoices and 
progress report.

Please type name of individual checking the above statement: Rachael Grover, Planning and Development Director

Please email the completed form and all supporting documentation to your Brownfield Grant and Loan Coordinator and to 
DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

 Note: In order for the submittal to be considered complete and in compliance with the contract: 

Copies of all contractor and subcontractor invoices must be attached. For Loan projects, a bank statement showing the 
balance of the loan funds and interest earned (if any) must also be attached. 

All parts of this form must be completed and submitted quarterly whether or not there have been expenditures.





Invoice
DATE

9/29/2023

INVOICE #

2256

BILL TO

Paper City Development
101 South Main Street
Vicksburg, MI 49097

Phillips Environmental
Consulting Services. Inc.

201 North Michigan Avenue
Vicksburg, MI 49097

PROJECT

1046A - Vicksburg Mill

Loan Task 2G - Due Care M&P

Phone #

269-501-5079

Total

Balance Due

DATE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY RATE AMOUNT

7/25/2023 Monthly conference call with EGLE and County. 0.5 130.00 65.00
7/26/2023 Update Steve S. on conference call and walkover request. 0.25 130.00 32.50
8/14/2023 Monthly Status call with EGLE and County. 0.5 130.00 65.00
9/12/2023 Monthly Status call with EGLE and County. 0.5 130.00 65.00
9/20/2023 Learn of MLive article and review and send questions to client. 1.25 130.00 162.50
9/21/2023 Review revised article and comment. discuss giving state heads up as it is still not

accurate. Call State and County upon approval.
2.5 130.00 325.00

$715.00

$715.00



Invoice
DATE

9/29/2023

INVOICE #

2257

BILL TO

Paper City Development
101 South Main Street
Vicksburg, MI 49097

Phillips Environmental
Consulting Services. Inc.

201 North Michigan Avenue
Vicksburg, MI 49097

PROJECT

1046A - Vicksburg Mill

Loan Task 2C - Soil Management

Phone #

269-501-5079

Total

Balance Due

DATE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY RATE AMOUNT

9/14/2023 Complete Waste Management Profile Renewal Form. 1.25 130.00 162.50
9/20/2023 Review Waste management Questions and Revise Renewal request to answer. 0.75 130.00 97.50

$260.00

$260.00



✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

Item 7ci



✔

✔

✔





�����������	�
������ �	����

����������������� ��! �"���!�#�� � $�

%���!&&��'��(�� ��

)�$��*+�,!�

�-	�����.

/!��0123��

4�.��.��5�6���7�8��6������5�9:

:�7�����7.

)�$��*+�,!�

�-������.

/!��0123�����;�"1*3��

)�$��<+�,!�

�=>�����.

/!��0123�����;�"1*+�?

@







✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

Item 7cii



✔✔





�������
����	�
������
�����������������

����
���	
����������������

 !!"��#�	��
���

$!����%�	�#!�&��!���&!'��!'���
��%$(�$!���

�����)
����#�!�� �*	��&��!����+%��������,����	�-�
����!.�/0���


1���"2����/�#��������

1���"2!����/�#��������

��!!0�������#��

-�
�	
	��!!0����3����� �	�

 !!"�	�.!��+
���)
����

�
�0����	��
���
�!!0�����

+!���/�#�� 4���5��

6
����7�8��� 4�95��

6!�
� :;<=>?@
�
�	

A&���!*������B



������������	
��� �������������	�����������

�����	��������������������������� ���������������������������������!�������������"�����#�$%�����������"&�%'��()"*+,-*+)�.-+'/,�*'0 ���

+�1�*�2+/-.*�
+�����.����3�����
��#��.+�4.�*���5+--/.��*..6��'��
����7##��
8�&�9�&&7��
�

:;<=><?@AB=�CD@<AE>

:;<=>F�C<@D CD>?;AG@AB= HIBJ=@ K<@DLB;M

�#��#��� 4N-./�')�'(N7�.-*N'-��N2��.-*N'-�' OPQFQQ -����R�
.������������

�

ST:UV�WXCWYTZCU:[TW:�C

�����2+�4')(-N)�5/\���'�
#��&

8���9�##��7�����

]B>@�C<@D -̂����_��+̂ 3̂����#������

:;<=><?@AB=�C<@D -̂����_��+̂ 3̂����#������

D̀;?a<=@�K<@DLB;M 4N-./�')�'(N

]J;?a<>D�̀D@aBb ')-.(*+-.���'*�c'-��+*��*.+�.*

dJMD;�X<ID +�1�*�2+/-.*�

K<;b�e>Db

]BA=@�Tf�g<ED�hAG�KBbD 
#��&

g@B;D�XJIiD; �--2

]aB=D�XJIiD; ���##�����

:B@<E�[BBI�XALa@>�XJIiD;�

j<?AEA@M�]aB=D�XJIiD; ���$
$��&�

XB�gaBk�W=bA?<@B; )

[BBI�[<@D ������

H;;Al<E�C<@D �#��������

CDG<;@J;D�C<@D �#��#�����

jBEAB�XJIiD; ��$�&�&

m���
����������5��n���� ���o�'��









������������	
���� ������������	�����������

�����	������������������������������������������������������������� ������������!�����"�
#�����������!$%#&���'(!)*+,)*(-,*&.+�)&/ ���

�*�0�)�1*.,-)�
*�����-����2�����
�%"���-*�3-��)��4*,,.-��)--5���&��6���%7""��
8�$�9�$$7%�6%

:;<=><?@AB=�CD@<AE>

:;<=>F�C<@D CD>?;AG@AB= HIBJ=@ K<@DLB;M

�"������ 1-�,&(�4NN5��*&..*��-,)N&,��& OPQFRR ,����S�
-������������

�

TUV:WX�YZZ[�KHCW\\HK

���6�1*�3&(',N(�4.]���&�6"��$

B̂>@�C<@D ,�_����̀��*_2_�����������

:;<=><?@AB=�C<@D ,�_����̀��*_2_�����������

aD;?b<=@�K<@DLB;M 1-�,&(�3N,-.�

Ĵ;?b<>D�aD@bBc �*(d*..0�5-0-

e���6���������4��f���������g&��



������������	���
� ������������������������������������������������������ �������!� ��������"#

$%&�'%(%�)*+*,�-../01 2+�34�

56789:;<=;>:?@<A9B;8<C=DEF9<G;B:9EB<G9H=B9H=I

>=<CAJ<A9B;8

K<L:<M<NE=

2*O�3401P

QE><CRST<5

U%P(1P(�V.W(1�X.Y�'W1�(.�(V%Z[

[.X'4(4.XP

K<L:<\M<NE=

2,]�3401P

QE><CRŜ<5

_1P(%WV%X(P .̀(10P -%P�P(%(4.XPa%Vb4X/�c.(P $.V1

defgh�ijk�lfmhno�j�pe�q�lfr.̀31�s2]t+�$1%[u13�_'v�(.�̀.(10�wX'4/.�x1(V.4(
x.YX(.YXy�%X�ẁ-�̀.(10y�2+*+�z%Pu4X/(.X�{0|'y�x1(V.4(y�$w�}t**~



For Professional Services Rendered Through 9/29/2023

Current Billings 2,733.55

Amount Due This Bill 2,733.55

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park 
Expansion

Proj Plan - Project Planning Associated 
w/BF Plan Amendment

6,500.00 3,143.47 3,356.53 3,356.53 0.00

BF Admin - Brownfield Plan Amendment 6,000.00 6,000.00 2,733.55 0.00 2,733.55

Rate Labor 2,733.55

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 12,500.00

To Date Billings : 9,446.61

Total Remaining : 3,053.39

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 429024
Invoice Date : 10/9/2023

Project : 230923
Project Name : KCBRA /Midlink Business Park 

Expansion
Bill Term : BT1

Item 7ciii



Project:   230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park Expansion Invoice:   429024

BF Admin - Brownfield Plan Amendment
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Production Support

Ariane Savoy 9/21/2023 1.25 75.0000 93.75
final Brownfield Plan

Senior Geologist
Therese Searles 9/6/2023 0.50 95.5000 47.75

RCRA cost and planning discussion
9/8/2023 0.50 95.5000 47.75

Midlink Amendment discussion re: RCRA
9/13/2023 0.50 95.5000 47.75

9/14/2023 0.50 95.5000 47.75
call with Logan re: Amendment prep considerations

9/18/2023 1.50 95.5000 143.25
Midlink draft Amendment review and emails with Macy

9/25/2023 0.75 95.5000 71.63
Amendment review

9/26/2023 0.25 95.5000 23.88
mtg emails with Macy

9/27/2023 1.50 95.5000 143.25
meeting with Comstock Twp

Total Therese Searles 6.00 573.01
Total Senior Geologist 6.00 573.01

Staff Environmental Specialist
Logan Mulholland 9/8/2023 4.25 74.3000 315.78

amendment
9/11/2023 1.25 74.3000 92.88

amendment
9/14/2023 3.00 74.3000 222.90

Plan amendment
9/16/2023 1.50 74.3000 111.45

Midlink Amendment
9/19/2023 4.75 74.3000 352.93

plan updates, finalize
9/20/2023 1.75 74.3000 130.03

Call with MB, finalize attachments and plan for review
9/21/2023 0.25 74.3000 18.58

Submit plan to County and Developers
9/25/2023 2.00 74.3000 148.60

New TIF Tables
9/27/2023 4.00 74.3000 297.20

Meeting with TWP, edits to plan,
Total Logan Mulholland 22.75 1,690.35

Total Staff Environmental Specialist 22.75 1,690.35
Technician

Michelle Bell 9/14/2023 1.00 62.7400 62.74
start working on drawings

9/19/2023 2.50 62.7400 156.85
figure out parcels

9/20/2023 2.50 62.7400 156.85
work on drawings

Total Michelle Bell 6.00 376.44
Total Technician 6.00 376.44

Page: 1



Project:   230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park Expansion Invoice:   429024

BF Admin - Brownfield Plan Amendment
Total Rate Labor 2,733.55

Total Bill Task: BF Admin - Brownfield Plan Amendment 2,733.55

Total Project:   230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park Expansion 2,733.55

Page: 2



For Professional Services Rendered Through 9/29/2023

Current Billings 4,757.52

Amount Due This Bill 4,757.52

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

HASP/SAP/PM - Eligibility / HASP /SAP 
/Project Management

3,000.00 2,117.77 882.23 882.23 0.00

PFE - PFE Testing 5,250.00 4,901.69 4,498.65 348.31 4,150.34

Rate Labor 3,652.84

Expenses 312.50

Unit Rate Expense 185.00

Total Expense 497.50

VMS Design - VMS Design 15,000.00 15,000.00 607.18 0.00 607.18

Rate Labor 607.18

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 23,250.00

To Date Billings : 5,988.06

Total Remaining : 17,261.94

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 429320
Invoice Date : 10/12/2023

Project : 231417
Project Name : KCBRA/ YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Dr. 

City of Parchment
Bill Term : BT1

Item 7c iv



Project:   231417 - KCBRA/ YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Dr. City of Parchment Invoice:   429320

PFE - PFE Testing
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 9/13/2023 0.75 95.5000 71.63
project and report communication with staff

Senior Hydrogeologist
Paul French 9/5/2023 8.00 122.1000 976.80

PFE Testing
9/7/2023 1.50 122.1000 183.15

Map/Figure Prep
9/11/2023 2.50 122.1000 305.25

Map prep
9/13/2023 0.25 122.1000 30.53

Data Asmt
9/19/2023 1.00 122.1000 122.10

9/20/2023 2.00 122.1000 244.20
Data Assessment, Develop TOC for Design Specs

9/29/2023 0.50 122.1000 61.05
Discuss PFET results w RW

Total Paul French 15.75 1,923.08
Total Senior Hydrogeologist 15.75 1,923.08

Staff Hydrogeologist
Madison Schrader 9/5/2023 8.75 74.3000 650.13

PFE testing
Ryohei Wakabayashi 9/5/2023 9.00 84.0000 756.00

PFE testing
9/9/2023 0.50 84.0000 42.00

PFE test result table
9/15/2023 2.50 84.0000 210.00

PFE test result table
Total Ryohei Wakabayashi 12.00 1,008.00

Total Staff Hydrogeologist 20.75 1,658.13

Total Rate Labor 3,652.84
Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Subconsultant

Diamond Concrete Sawing 312.50 1.00 312.50

Total Expenses 312.50
Unit Rate Expenses
Account / Unit Quantity Rate Amount
Equipment Usage
Field Supplies 1.00 35.0000 35.00
Hilti Hammer Drill 1.00 50.0000 50.00
Obar Blower - Per Day 1.00 100.0000 100.00

Total Equipment Usage 3.00 185.00

Total Unit Rate Expenses 185.00

Total Bill Task: PFE - PFE Testing 4,150.34

VMS Design - VMS Design
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Staff Hydrogeologist

Ryohei Wakabayashi 9/28/2023 1.25 84.0000 105.00

Page: 1



Project:   231417 - KCBRA/ YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Dr. City of Parchment Invoice:   429320

VMS Design - VMS Design
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Staff Hydrogeologist

Report preparation (Text, designing VMS)
9/29/2023 0.75 84.0000 63.00

Report preparation (Text, designing VMS)
Total Ryohei Wakabayashi 2.00 168.00

Total Staff Hydrogeologist 2.00 168.00
Technician

Michelle Bell 9/5/2023 2.50 62.7400 156.85
changes for paul

9/8/2023 3.00 62.7400 188.22
drawing for paul with walls

9/11/2023 1.50 62.7400 94.11
work on drawing for paul

Total Michelle Bell 7.00 439.18
Total Technician 7.00 439.18

Total Rate Labor 607.18

Total Bill Task: VMS Design - VMS Design 607.18

Total Project:   231417 - KCBRA/ YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Dr. City of Parchment 4,757.52

Page: 2



WO #9

For Professional Services Rendered Through 9/29/2023

Current Billings 546.65

Amount Due This Bill 546.65

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

PH II - Phase II ESA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

BPE - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 8,000.00 4,442.25 4,104.40 3,557.75 546.65

Rate Labor 546.65

BPA - Brownfield Plan Amendment 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 15,000.00

To Date Billings : 4,104.40

Total Remaining : 10,895.60

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 429203
Invoice Date : 10/10/2023

Project : 230914
Project Name : KCBRA/Eliza Street Schoolcraft

Bill Term : BT1

Item 7c v



Project:   230914 - KCBRA/Eliza Street Schoolcraft Invoice:   429203

BPE - Brownfield Plan Evaluation
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

David Stegink 9/7/2023 1.00 122.1000 122.10

9/22/2023 1.00 122.1000 122.10

Total David Stegink 2.00 244.20
Total Senior Environmental Specialist 2.00 244.20

Senior Geologist
Therese Searles 9/7/2023 2.00 95.5000 191.00

prepare for and attend mtg with R. Grover and M. Walters
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 9/7/2023 1.50 74.3000 111.45
project meeting with TMS, DAS, and KCBRA staff

Total Rate Labor 546.65

Total Bill Task: BPE - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 546.65

Total Project:   230914 - KCBRA/Eliza Street Schoolcraft 546.65

Page: 1



For Professional Services Rendered Through 9/29/2023

Current Billings 1,322.63

Amount Due This Bill 1,322.63

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

230924 - KCBRA /Comstock Center 
Redevelopment

Elg & PH1 - Eligibility & Phase I ESA 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00

PH2 ESA - Phase II ESA 18,000.00 16,584.12 2,738.51 1,415.88 1,322.63

Rate Labor 262.63

Expenses 1,060.00

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 22,000.00

To Date Billings : 6,738.51

Total Remaining : 15,261.49

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 429028
Invoice Date : 10/9/2023

Project : 230924
Project Name : KCBRA /Comstock Center 

Redevelopment
Bill Term : BT1

Item 7c vi



Project:   230924 - KCBRA /Comstock Center Redevelopment Invoice:   429028

PH2 ESA - Phase II ESA
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Hydrogeologist

Erik Peterson 9/19/2023 0.75 95.5000 71.63

9/28/2023 2.00 95.5000 191.00

Total Erik Peterson 2.75 262.63
Total Senior Hydrogeologist 2.75 262.63

Total Rate Labor 262.63
Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Subconsultant

Facility Management Consultants Intl 1,060.00 1.00 1,060.00

Total Expenses 1,060.00

Total Bill Task: PH2 ESA - Phase II ESA 1,322.63

Total Project:   230924 - KCBRA /Comstock Center Redevelopment 1,322.63

Page: 1



For Professional Services Rendered Through 9/29/2023

6667 Stadium Dr, Oshtemo

*Max Fee Exceeded Current Billings 1,200.18

Amount Due This Bill 1,200.18

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

231418 - KCBRA /Redman Ventures, LLC-
6667 Stadium Dr. Oshtemo

Elig-PH1 - Eligibility Update & Phase I ESA 3,200.00 447.91 3,200.00 2,752.09 457.50
Less Fee Exceeded -9.59

Rate Labor 457.50

ASB - Asbestos Survey 5,000.00 2,864.92 2,887.35 2,135.08 752.27

Rate Labor 322.27

Expenses 430.00

BP Eval - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 11,200.00

To Date Billings : 6,087.35

Total Remaining : 5,112.65

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 429026
Invoice Date : 10/9/2023

Project : 231418
Project Name : KCBRA /Redman Ventures, LLC-

6667 Stadium Dr. Oshtemo
Bill Term : BT1

Item 7c vii



Project:   231418 - KCBRA /Redman Ventures, LLC-6667 Stadium Dr. Oshtemo Invoice:   429026

Elig-PH1 - Eligibility Update & Phase I ESA
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Staff Engineering Specialist

Hailey Lyczynski 9/18/2023 0.25 73.2000 18.30
Work on Table 2

9/20/2023 1.25 73.2000 91.50
Finish tables and report

9/21/2023 4.75 73.2000 347.70
Write Data Validation report and create Sample Location Maps, send project to TMS for review

Total Hailey Lyczynski 6.25 457.50
Total Staff Engineering Specialist 6.25 457.50

Total Rate Labor 457.50

Total Bill Task: Elig-PH1 - Eligibility Update & Phase I ESA 457.50

ASB - Asbestos Survey
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Production Support

Shelbey Senkewitz 9/25/2023 0.25 60.8900 15.22
Format HMI photo appendix

9/29/2023 0.25 60.8900 15.22
Edit Data Validation Report

Total Shelbey Senkewitz 0.50 30.44
Total Production Support 0.50 30.44

Scientist
Aaron Bigler 9/20/2023 1.75 84.9000 148.58

Field Staff Review of HMI Survey Report
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 9/29/2023 1.50 95.5000 143.25
report review

Total Rate Labor 322.27
Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Subconsultant

Apex Research Inc 430.00 1.00 430.00

Total Expenses 430.00

Total Bill Task: ASB - Asbestos Survey 752.27

Total Project:   231418 - KCBRA /Redman Ventures, LLC-6667 Stadium Dr. Oshtemo 1,209.77

Page: 1



For Professional Services Rendered Through 9/29/2023

WO #12

Current Billings 479.03

Amount Due This Bill 479.03

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

231419 - KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 
N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo

RAP - Response Activity Plan /Conceptual 
Site Model

17,500.00 16,700.10 943.15 799.90 143.25

Rate Labor 143.25

Clean - Brownfield Cleanup Planning 5,000.00 5,000.00 335.78 0.00 335.78

Rate Labor 335.78

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 22,500.00

To Date Billings : 1,278.93

Total Remaining : 21,221.07

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 429030
Invoice Date : 10/9/2023

Project : 231419
Project Name : KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 N.

Burdick St. Kalamazoo
Bill Term : BT1

Item 7 viii



Project:   231419 - KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo Invoice:   429030

RAP - Response Activity Plan /Conceptual Site Model
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Hydrogeologist

Erik Peterson 9/1/2023 1.50 95.5000 143.25
Prepare responses for Byce to City questions for site plan approval

Total Rate Labor 143.25

Clean - Brownfield Cleanup Planning
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

David Stegink 9/7/2023 1.50 122.1000 183.15
Meeting with City and Developer re grant support, set up meeting with EGLE

9/8/2023 0.25 122.1000 30.53
set up EGLE Meeting

9/29/2023 1.00 122.1000 122.10
meeting w JB, EGLE, discuss data deliverables

Total David Stegink 2.75 335.78
Total Senior Environmental Specialist 2.75 335.78

Total Rate Labor 335.78

Total Bill Task: Clean - Brownfield Cleanup Planning 335.78

Total Project:   231419 - KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 479.03

Page: 1



October 4, 2023 

Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
Planning and Development Department 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
201 W. Kalamazoo Avenue, Room 207 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 

Request for a Local Brownfield Revolving Fund Loan – Clark Logis cs Group VII, LLC 

Fishbeck was engaged by the County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to review a request by Clark Logis cs 
Group to secure funds for environmental ac vi es as they construct a new building in Schoolcra , Michigan. 

Background 
The property for this evalua on is composed of two parcels known as “555 Eliza Street” and “the Lee Street 
parcel” which is a vacant unaddressed parcel. In 2014, the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority adopted a Brownfield Plan for these two parcels. At that me, Clark Logis cs Group was primarily 
focused on rehabilita on of the building at 555 Eliza Street. Both parcels of property have environmental 
contamina on from historical industrial opera ons at the site. To help address environmental concerns at this site, 
the Authority secured a Grant and Loan from the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy 
(EGLE) which was used to fund the disposal of contaminated soil, the design and installa on of a vapor mi ga on 
system, and other environmental ac vi es. The Authority began paying back the loan in 2023 and has an 
amor za on schedule of annual payments of $10,000 with the final payment due in 2038. The Brownfield Plan 
included costs related to environmental ac vi es, demoli on, and asbestos removal beyond the amount of the 
grant and loan. To date, Clark Logis cs Group has not sought reimbursement for any eligible ac vi es.  

Earlier in 2023, Clark Logistics Group broke ground on a 126,000-square-foot building located on the Lee Street 
parcel. During construction, contractors discovered buried topsoil, concrete, tires, stumps, etc. The contractor for 
the project (H&K Excavating) submitted a Change Order for $192,500 to move and replace 8,750 cubic yards of 
unsuitable soils. This work has been completed, and the soils have been relocated on site in berms near the 
property boundary. 

An additional area of contaminated soil was determined to be unsuitable to retain on site due to its levels of 
contamination. Approximately 2,100 cubic yards of contaminated soil will be removed from the site and disposed 
of at Waste Management’s Landfill in Three Rivers, Michigan. The estimated cost for this work is $97,115.  

In addition to the excess soil, Clark Logistics Group has been advised that groundwater contamination at the site 
represents a vapor intrusion risk to the new building and is installing a vapor mitigation system. Simultaneously, 
Clark Logistics Group is repairing and upgrading its existing vapor mitigation system at the 555 Eliza Street 
building. The two systems will be linked with a new remote monitoring system. The cost for the new system and 
upgrades is estimated to be $146,555. This work is underway.  

The total of these costs, not including any significant contingencies, is $435,670. 

Item 8ai



Macy Walters 
October 4, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_C\CLARK LOGIC\ELIZA STREET NEW CONSTRUCTION\LBRF REQUEST\LT_KCBRA_LBRF REQUEST_2023_1004.DOCX 

Evaluation of Clark Logic’s Request 
Clark Logistics Group is requesting a loan from the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority for an 
amount not to exceed $440,000 with repayment to be made from the tax increment revenues generated from 
the new construction. Fishbeck has evaluated this arrangement and is providing the following conclusions for the 
Board to include in their consideration of this financial request: 

1. The ac vi es for which Clark Logis cs Group seeks financial assistance are eligible ac vi es under the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act. 

2. The ac vi es for which Clark Logis cs Group seeks financial assistance are included in the Brownfield Plan 
adopted for this project. 

3. The cost of the eligible ac vi es, when combined with the Authority’s costs, exceeds the amount allowed in 
the Brownfield Plan adopted for this project. The Authority would need to cap the request from Clark Logis cs 
Group to about $394,500, plus a 2.0% interest expense, to remain compliant with the Brownfield Plan. 

4. The future taxable value of the new construc on is expected to be around $3,000,000 according to the Village 
of Schoolcra ’s Assessor and an independent review by another qualified Assessor. Those new property 
values will generate significant new tax revenues. The tax increment revenues are projected to be $71,882 in 
school taxes and $104,230 in local taxes.  

5. A er projected administra ve fees and a por on of the School Educa on Tax being conveyed to the State as 
required, projected annual tax increment revenues available to pay for prior costs incurred by the Authority, 
the EGLE Loan, and the Clark Logis cs Group loan is $156,704 in the first year and a li le over $167,000 in 
subsequent years. To accommodate the eligible ac vi es, administra ve costs are capped as described in the 
Brownfield Plan. 

6. The projected revenues are sufficient to repay costs previously incurred by the Authority to support this 
project. Costs incurred in 2014–2015 related to due diligence ac vi es, Brownfield Plan development, and 
securing the EGLE grant and loan amounted to $56,200. This amount could be reimbursed in whole with 2024 
tax increment revenues.  

7. The projected tax increment revenues are sufficient to cover the annual EGLE loan payments.  
8. The projected tax increment revenues are sufficient to allow Clark Logis cs Group to reimburse a loan of 

$394,500 over a 5-year period, inclusive of an interest expense. A 2.0% rate was used for our evalua on.  
9. The Authority would have a net gain to the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund of $19,463 from the projected 

interest expense. 

The Authority is reminded that this Plan did not project capture in the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund. 

A schedule is attached which outlines the project revenues and disbursements. 

We are available to discuss this ma er with you at your convenience. If you have any ques ons or require 
addi onal informa on, please contact me at 269.544.6977 or dstegink@fishbeck.com. 

Sincerely, 

David Stegink Logan Mulholland 
Vice President/Brownfield Program Manager Brownfield Project Analyst 

By email 
A achment 



Attachment









Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist, Therese Searles, Senior Geologist 

DATE: October 26, 2023 

RE: General/LBRF Funding Updates 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to General Funding or LBRF Projects. 

1. General Environmental Review
Project No: 230454 – W.O. 2023-1

UUpdate:

General Review: Fishbeck is completing soil investigation activities and oversight of the
evaluation of a Vapor Intrusion Mitigation system for the Eliza Street expansion. Fishbeck has
provided KCBRA staff with an evaluation of new activities. The developer has submitted an
updated project application increasing the LBRF funding request.

Contractual Administrative Support: No activities to report this month.

2. Paper City Development – EGLE Grant Oversight
Project No: E190048 – W.O. 2019-2

Update:
The team is preparing to close out the grant. There are no activities to report this month.

3. Paper City Development – EGLE Loan Oversight
Project No: E190148 – W.O. 2019-4

Update:
No activities to report this month.

4. 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp., MI
Project No: E210178 – W.O. 2021-2

Update:
There are no invoices for consideration this month. However, KCBRA staff has had
communications with the property owner and Fishbeck has communicated with the
Township Assessor to determine current taxable value status and end of year implications.
The assessor is not aware of any improvements made to date so taxable value is anticipated
to increase annually by the standard 5% consumer price index (CPI) rates. There are no
further activities to report this month.

Item 8bii



Memo – General/LBRF Updates and Invoices 
October 26, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\OCTOBER 
2023\KCBRA GENERAL AND LBRF FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 10-26-23.DOCX 

1. YWCA – 550 S. Riverview, Parchment, Michigan  
Project No: 231417 – W.O. 2023-2 

 
       Update:  

At the time Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA) of Kalamazoo, Michigan entered into the 
purchase agreement for the building located at 550 S. Riverview Drive, Parchment, Michigan, YWCA was 
unaware of the potential cost associated with addressing VI concerns. YWCA is in need of leveraging funding 
sources to complete the assessment, design, and installation of the Vapor Mitigation System (VMS). 
Requested funding through the County’s EPA Assessment Grant for assessment, planning and design of a 
VMS was approved in July.   

Fishbeck conducted a Phase II Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) of the property on June 7, 2023, to 
evaluate the Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs) identified in the May 17, 2023, Phase I ESA. The 
Phase II ESA sampling indicated that volatile organic compounds (VOCs), specifically TCE and PCE, were 
detected on the property in both soil and groundwater at levels exceeding Non-Residential Volatilization to 
Indoor Air Pathway (VIAP) Screening Levels. PCE was also detected in soil gas beneath the existing building 
at levels approaching VIAP Screening Levels.  

The soil and groundwater data indicate that there is a potential for a vapor intrusion exposure for the 
structure. While the soil gas data suggest that the Vapor Intrusion Pathway is not currently complete, the 
results are based on a one-time sampling event. Current EGLE guidance requires four quarterly sampling 
events without VIAP exceedances in order to eliminate the Vapor Intrusion Pathway for the subject building.  

YWCA has reservations in occupying the building that may risk the health of its employees, clients, tenant, 
and visitors without taking steps to mitigate the potential Vapor Intrusion (VI) risk. In order to address this 
potential risk, YWCA will require the presumptive remedy of installing a Vapor Mitigation System (VMS). 
Fishbeck concurs that this is a reasonable approach considering the time restraints related to occupancy of 
the building and the uncertain outcome of future sampling that may or may not resolve this concern. YWCA 
has requested funding support through the KCBRA LBRF to complete the installation of the VMS. The project 
application and budget request of $100,000 through the use of the County’s LBRF was approved in July. 
Work Order 2023-2 is presented for the Board’s consideration this month. 

 



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review
Budget and Cost Summary 

10/26/2023
Page 1 of 1

230454 2023-1 General Environmental Review 14,000.00$           14,000.00$            420292 2/16/2023 $160.00
421238 3/16/2023 $315.00
423214 5/10/2023 $2,147.75
424170 6/8/2023 $2,226.61
425333 7/12/2023 $2,294.95
426213 8/7/2023 $806.25
427541 9/7/2023 $1,420.00
429022* 10/9/2023 $963.75

Project Subtotal 14,000.00$           14,000.00$            $10,334.31 $3,665.69

Contractual Administrative 6,000.00$             6,000.00$              421238 3/16/2023 $315.00
423214 5/10/2023 $288.75

Project Subtotal 6,000.00$             6,000.00$              $603.75 $5,396.25

Project Total $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $10,938.06 $9,061.94

190048 2019-2 Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight
W.O. Approved   
Total Approved budget of $3,000.00 3,000.00$             3,000.00$              05421 4/18/2019 $2,642.50 $10,565.50 $10,565.50
Amendment #1 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$             5,000.00$              05490 5/10/2019 $140.00 $10,425.50 $10,425.50
Amendment #2 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$             5,000.00$              05603 6/14/2019 $1,662.50 $8,763.00 $8,763.00
Contingency Amendment #3- $6,500 6,500.00$             6,500.00$              05665 7/16/2019 $1,110.00 $7,653.00 $7,653.00
Budget adjustment to bring approved budget current 5-19-23 (6,292.00)$            (6,292.00)$             05723 8/14/2019 $788.75 $6,864.25 $6,864.25

Project Subtotal 13,208.00$           13,208.00$            05787 9/6/2019 $35.00 $6,829.25 $6,829.25
06215 1/7/2020 $26.25 $6,803.00 $6,803.00
06329 2/7/2020 $131.25 $6,671.75 $6,671.75
06442 3/19/2020 $210.00 $6,461.75 $6,461.75
06579 5/12/2020 $113.75 $6,348.00 $6,348.00
06655 6/17/2020 $52.50 $6,295.50 $6,295.50
06714 7/9/2020 $105.00 $6,190.50 $6,190.50

 06808 8/11/2020 $78.75 $6,111.75 $6,111.75
06895 9/8/2020 $52.50 $6,059.25 $6,059.25
06994 10/12/2020 $446.25 $5,613.00 $5,613.00
07086 11/5/2020 $551.25 $5,061.75 $5,061.75
07163 12/7/2020 $183.75 $4,878.00 $4,878.00
07282 1/14/2021 $645.73 $4,232.27 $4,232.27
07465 3/9/2021 $446.25 $3,786.02 $3,786.02
07514 4/8/2021 $301.77 $3,484.25 $3,484.25
07669 5/21/2021 $402.50 $3,081.75 $3,081.75
07764 6/16/2021 $26.25 $3,055.50 $3,055.50
07955 8/9/2021 $78.75 $2,976.75 $2,976.75
08127 10/6/2021 $26.25 $2,950.50 $2,950.50
08659 2/18/2022 $52.50 $2,898.00 $2,898.00
08768 3/10/2022 $26.25 $2,871.75 $2,871.75
08840 4/8/2022 $262.50 $2,609.25 $2,609.25
08975 5/10/2022 $172.50 $2,436.75 $2,436.75
09125 6/13/2022 $28.75 $2,408.00 $2,408.00
09390 8/18/2022 $57.50 $2,350.50 $2,350.50
09618 10/12/2022 $86.25 $2,264.25 $2,264.25
09744 11/9/2022 $373.75 $1,890.50 $1,890.50
09856 12/12/2022 $230.00 $1,660.50 $1,660.50

421239 3/16/2023 $28.75 $1,631.75 $1,631.75
423213 5/10/2023 $86.25 $1,545.50 $1,545.50
424171 6/8/2023 $1,437.50 $108.00 $108.00

Project Subtotal $13,100.00 $108.00

190148 2019-4 Paper City Development LLC, Vicksburg, Michigan - EGLE Loan Oversight 05789 9/6/2019 $1,470.00 $38,530.00 $38,530.00
W.O. Approved 40,000.00$           $40,000.00 05896 10/7/2019 $787.50 $37,742.50 $37,742.50

05994 11/7/2019 $1,242.50 $36,500.00 $36,500.00
06128 12/9/2019 $280.00 $36,220.00 $36,220.00
06214 1/7/2020 $105.00 $36,115.00 $36,115.00
'06330 2/7/2020 $385.00 $35,730.00 $35,730.00
06441 3/19/2020 $840.00 $34,890.00 $34,890.00
06516 4/8/2020 $271.25 $34,618.75 $34,618.75
06580 5/12/2020 $840.00 $33,778.75 $33,778.75
06656 6/17/2020 $236.25 $33,542.50 $33,542.50
06713 7/9/2020 $130.00 $33,412.50 $33,412.50
06809 8/11/2020 $78.75 $33,333.75 $33,333.75
06896 9/8/2020 $315.00 $33,018.75 $33,018.75
06982 10/12/2020 $297.50 $32,721.25 $32,721.25
07042 11/5/2020 $52.50 $32,668.75 $32,668.75
07162 12/7/202 $78.75 $32,590.00 $32,590.00
07346 2/5/2021 $52.50 $32,537.50 $32,537.50
07464 3/9/2021 $262.50 $32,275.00 $32,275.00
07515 4/8/2021 $35.00 $32,240.00 $32,240.00
07670 5/21/2021 $700.00 $31,540.00 $31,540.00
07956 8/9/2021 $131.25 $31,408.75 $31,408.75
08051 9/14/2021 $26.25 $31,382.50 $31,382.50
08355 12/7/2021 $210.00 $31,172.50 $31,172.50
08767 3/10/2022 $288.75 $30,883.75 $30,883.75
08839 4/8/2022 $393.75 $30,490.00 $30,490.00
08976 5/10/2022 $28.75 $30,461.25 $30,461.25
09126 6/13/2022 $86.25 $30,375.00 $30,375.00

422268 4/17/2023 $28.75 $30,346.25 $30,346.25
Project Subtotal $9,653.75 $30,346.25

08138 10/6/2021 $11,504.97 $9,495.03 $9,495.03
210178 2021-2 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp. 21,000.00$           21,000.00$            08253 11/4/2021 $308.51 $9,186.52 $9,186.52

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $8,084.02 $8,084.02
08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $7,187.02 $7,187.02
08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $7,057.02 $7,057.02
09079 6/8/2022 $225.00 $6,832.02 $6,832.02

Project Subtoal $14,167.98 $6,832.02

Phase II ESA 15,000.00$           $15,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $9,787.47 $5,212.53 $5,212.53
08253 11/4/2021 $262.50 $4,950.03 $4,950.03
08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $3,847.53 $3,847.53
08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $2,950.53 $2,950.53

$12,049.47 $2,950.53

BEA/Due Care 3,000.00$             $3,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $1,717.50 $1,282.50 $1,282.50
08253 11/4/2021 $46.01 $1,236.49 $1,236.49
08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $1,106.49 $1,106.49
09079 6/8/2022 $262.50 $843.99 $843.99

$2,156.01 $843.99

Contingency 3,000.00$             $3,000.00

231417 2023-2 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive, Parchment - VMS Installation 100,000.00$         $100,000.00 $100,000.00

Total Project Budgets $194,208.00 $194,208.00  Total $47,859.79 $146,348.21

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 
Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount Task Budget 

Remaining
Total Budget 
Remaining



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist, Therese Searles, Senior Geologist 

DATE: October 26, 2023   

RE: FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to the FY21 EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant. 

11. Community Outreach and Programmatic 
Project No: E210229 -W.O. 2  

Update: 

Fishbeck attended the September committee meetings. Project updates to ACRES were made and meeting 
materials were prepared. Grant reporting documents (Quarterly Report, MBE/WBE Report, Federal Financial 
Report) have been initiated and will be submitted by the end of October. There is no invoice for consideration 
this month. A budget amendment request is anticipated next month.  
 

2. Parchment Mill Site 
Project No: E220154 – W.O. 6 

Update: 

The City of Parchment has been continuously working on plans to improve the redevelopment potential for the 
property. After a failed attempt by a previous developer, the city regained ownership of the property in 2020. To 
improve and advance the City’s efforts related to this site, additional cleanup planning activities are warranted 
and were approved within Work Order 6 by the KCBRA.  Updated accomplishments were presented to the KCBRA 
board at their December 15, 2022 meeting. The City of Parchment was awarded an $800,000 EPA Multipurpose 
Grant. The final invoice was approved in August 2023 and the final project documentation for the scope of work 
funded by Kalamazoo County’s EPA assessment grant was presented to the KCBRA at the regular August meeting. 
No further activities are anticipated to be funded by Kalamazoo County’s EPA assessment grant. 

3. Watershed LLC – 6667 Stadium Drive, Oshtemo Township 
Project No: 230922 – W.O. 7 

Update: 

The property consists of one parcel that is approximately 1.33 acres and is developed with a 3,726-square-foot 
former schoolhouse building that was constructed in 1870 and located at 6667 Stadium Drive in Oshtemo 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
October 26, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\OCTOBER 
2023\KCBRA EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 10-26-23.DOCX 

Township. The southern addition to the former schoolhouse building was constructed in the 1950s. Also, an 
approximately 5,700-square-foot former bus garage exists on the property. Years without use and significant 
water intrusion have caused the structure to become severely dilapidated and unsafe in its current condition. 
Shannon and Kevin Brown, the property owners and doing business as Watershed LLC, had plans to redevelop the 
structures into a mixed-use redevelopment. The KCBRA approved a project application submitted by the Browns 
and an associated work order to perform an asbestos survey and a Brownfield Plan evaluation. U.S. EPA eligibility 
was received on May 12, 2023. A Health and Safety Plan and Sampling and Analysis Plan have been prepared and 
submitted to the EPA. The HASP was accepted and the SAP was approved by the USEPA on June 13, 2023. 
However, the developers encountered significantly higher redevelopment costs than expected and decided to 
halt redevelopment and list the property for sale. Unused budgets allocated to this project were returned to 
support future projects. However, a new buyer and developer has come forward and is interested in conducting 
the proposed assessment and seeking funding support through the KCBRA. Invoicing for Work Order 7 is 
complete. 

 

44. Redman Ventures, LLC – 6667 Stadium Drive, Oshtemo Township 
Project No: 231418 – W.O. 11 

Redman Ventures, LLC has a purchase agreement in place with the Browns to purchase the property located at 
6667 Stadium Drive. The KCBRA approved a project application submitted by Robert Redman and an associated 
work order to complete a Phase I ESA, Asbestos Survey, and Brownfield Plan evaluation activities. Eligibility for the 
site was received, the HASP accepted, and SAP approved by the USEPA for the property for assessment under the 
previous developer. Updated documents were presented to the EPA Project Officer for accurate record retention. 
The Phase I ESA has been completed for the purchasing entity to comply with All Appropriate Inquiry. An Asbestos 
Survey will determine if any asbestos-containing materials exist that will require abatement prior to 
renovations/interior demolition. The asbestos survey report has been finalized and furnished to Redman 
Ventures, LLC with a copy forwarded on to the USEPA. Brownfield Plan evaluation activities consist of working 
with the township assessor to determine anticipated Future Taxable Value, work with the developer to 
anticipated eligible costs and run TIF modeling to determine if a Brownfield Plan would be an appropriate tool for 
this project. Brownfield Plan evaluation activities are being initiated. 

 

5. Midlink Business Park Expansion – Comstock Charter Township 
Project No: 230923 – W.O. 10 and W.O. 14 

Update: 

The project developer (5200 East Cork Street Investors, LLC) is requesting an amendment to the Midlink 
Brownfield Plan to include funding for eligible expenses related to constructing a new 165,000-square-foot 
speculative warehouse/light manufacturing building on 14 acres of surplus land at Midlink Business Park.  

The new construction will result in an increase in available tax increment revenues. Work Order 10 approved 
project planning activities associated with a Brownfield Plan Amendment to accommodate additional costs 
related to the expansion.  U.S. EPA eligibility was received on May 12, 2023. A summary of the planning activities, 
including remaining reimbursable expenses, sequencing of reimbursement, and timing considerations were 
presented to the KCBRA at the July regular meeting. Work Order 14 approved preparation of the Brownfield Plan 
Amendment. The KCBRA also approved a project application from Schupan to include their development activities 
into the Brownfield Plan Amendment. Amendment #4 to the Midlink Brownfield Plan has been prepared and the 
KCBRA recommended the Plan Amendment for approval at the September KCBRA regular meeting. Comstock 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
October 26, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 3 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\OCTOBER 
2023\KCBRA EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 10-26-23.DOCX 

Township passed a resolution of support of the Brownfield Plan Amendment on October 16, 2023. The Plan 
Amendment is anticipated to go before the County Board of Commissioners in November.  

 

66. Comstock Center Redevelopment – 10 parcels at King Highway and River Street, Comstock Charter Township 
Project No: 230924 – W.O. 8 

Update: 

Comstock Charter Township desires to redevelop 10 parcels at the southeast corner of King Highway and River 
Street in Comstock Center into a mixed-use redevelopment. At this time, neither a specific plan nor a developer 
have been identified. It has been determined that assessment will inform the redevelopment needs and assist in 
moving the project forward. Comstock Charter Township has engaged with each property owner regarding site 
access for assessment purposes. The KCBRA approved a project application requesting funding support through 
the use of the County’s U.S. EPA Assessment Grant to conduct Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessments 
(ESAs), and if needed, a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA), Due Care Documentation, and preparation of 
a Brownfield Plan. U.S. EPA eligibility was received on May 12, 2023. The Phase I ESA is complete and identified 
five Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs) related to former site uses of laundromat and automotive 
services, a former machine shop, and one parcel with documentation of a tank but no record of removal or 
assessment. Fishbeck has met with Steve Deisler of Comstock Township and the three property owners to secure 
access agreements to complete Phase II assessment activities to address the identified RECs.  A HASP and SAP 
were prepared and submitted to the USEPA. After back and forth communication with EPA to address some initial 
questions, approval of SAP has been obtained. All Phase II ESA field work has been completed. Specifically, 
Fishbeck conducted a GPR survey to assess the former tank on the east section of the property along King 
Highway, Geoprobe soil boring installation was performed to assess soil and groundwater across three identified 
areas of the site, and vapor pin installation and sampling was completed on the remaining building on the 
northwestern portion of the property. We are awaiting analytical results. There were no obvious signs of impact 
based on field observations. 

 

7. Eliza Street Expansion – Village of Schoolcraft  
Project No: 230914 – W.O. 9 

Update:  

This is a property where the Kalamazoo County BRA has previously had a significant role in supporting 
redevelopment. 555 Eliza Street is a Clarklogic-owned property. A vacant parcel to the south of Eliza Street is 
being redeveloped with a 126,000-square-foot warehousing building. As construction began, unsuitable soils 
were encountered which will require offsite disposal. There is also concern that about the environmental 
condition of the site and specifically if vapor mitigation controls are required for this new construction. Services 
related to soil management and assessing vapor intrusion considerations will not be funded through the EPA 
grant and will be covered under KCBRA  general environmental services. 

A Brownfield Plan is in place for this site. The new construction will result in an increase in available tax increment 
revenues. A Brownfield Plan Evaluation was approved by the KCBRA to have Fishbeck work with the local Assessor 
to estimate future tax revenues and provide the Authority with different schedules to show how the future taxes 
can be used to pay for costs previously incurred by the Authority, costs previously incurred by Clarklogic, loan 
repayment obligations the County has to EGLE, and future costs related to this development. This evaluation will 
also aid the Authority in considering any request for the use of Local Brownfield Revolving Funds. 

Fishbeck has received total project eligible costs from Clarklogic, an estimated Future Taxable Value 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
October 26, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 4 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\OCTOBER 
2023\KCBRA EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 10-26-23.DOCX 

(FTV) from the Assessor for the Village of Schoolcraft, and conducted TIF modeling. Fishbeck has 
provided KCBRA staff with an evaluation of new activities within the existing Brownfield Plan and 
determined that an Amendment is not needed, pending KCBRA Board considerations. The developer 
has submitted an updated project application increasing the LBRF funding request. 

 

88. Legacy Senior Living – 730 N. Burdick Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan 
Project No: 231419 – W.O. 12 

Update:  

Hollander Development Corporation (Hollander), in partnership with Mt. Zion Baptist Church of Kalamazoo, has 
been awarded low-income tax credits to develop a 70-unit multi-family apartment community for seniors in 
Kalamazoo’s Northside Neighborhood. The community is designed as a sustainable development that provides 
much needed affordable housing options and allows residents to age in place. The property consists of 14 current 
parcels that will be combined and addressed as 730 N. Burdick Street. Phase I and II Environmental Site 
Assessments have already been completed. Sampling has identified existing contamination, but further cleanup 
planning is needed to safely reuse the site and support redevelopment. The KCBA approved Work Order 12 to 
include Fishbeck preparing a Response Activity Plan (ReSAP), inclusive of the development of a conceptual site 
model (CSM) that details all available environmental data for the project site and discusses potential 
unacceptable contaminant exposure pathways relative to the planned redevelopment of the site. The ReSAP will 
be prepared to satisfy requirements by the Michigan State Housing Development Authority (MSHDA) for tax 
credit support for the planned development. The plan will present a detailed description of response activities 
that will be undertaken to eliminate unacceptable exposures. The preparation of the CSM, including a discussion 
of proposed response activities, is critical to efficiently communicating site conditions with the EGLE. Once 
completed, the ReSAP will be submitted to EGLE for review and concurrence that the property is, or will be, safe 
for its planned end use following the completion of necessary response activities to mitigate unacceptable risk for 
all complete exposure pathways.  

The KCBRA approved Work Order 12 to complete the ReSAP, prepare a Conceptual Site Model (CSM), and 
conduct brownfield cleanup planning activities, including communicating with regulatory agencies and evaluating 
leveraged funds to support safe reuse of the site. Fishbeck prepared an eligibility demonstration that was 
submitted to the USEPA. Following some questions on site ownership, an amended eligibility demonstration was 
prepared and concurrence on eligibility was received from the USEPA. The CSM has been prepared and submitted 
to EGLE with KCBRA staff receiving a copy. Concurrent with our discussions with EGLE to determine appropriate 
content to receive approval of the ReSAP, were discussions about potential EGLE support of a Grant or Loan to 
fund installation of a proposed Vapor Mitigation System (VMS) (not funded through the KCBRA). EGLE requested 
further assessment and sampling to determine if a VMS is required. So KCBRA supported funding will be used to 
further assess the site which will assist in determining the scope of the ReSAP needed to achieve approval. 

 

9. YWCA – 550 S. Riverview, Parchment, Michigan  
Project No: 231417 – W.O. 13 

Update:  

Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA) of Kalamazoo, Michigan is requesting funding for assessment, 
planning and design of a vapor mitigation system (“Project”) for the building located at 550 S. Riverview Drive, 
Parchment, Michigan (“Property”).  The Property was occupied by Advia Credit Union (“Advia”) and served as its 
headquarters.  Advia’s headquarters have now moved and the Property is listed for sale.  The YWCA has entered 
into a purchase agreement with Advia, and is in the process of completing its due diligence before making a 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
October 26, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 5 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\OCTOBER 
2023\KCBRA EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 10-26-23.DOCX 

decision about whether to purchase the Property. Recent sampling undertaken during the due diligence period 
has detected hazardous substances present at the Property, some of which may have the potential to volatilize 
into the building (vapor intrusion, or “VI”). The YWCA is not willing to occupy the Building and risk the health of its 
employees, clients or tenant (Advia plans to lease and occupy a small part of the Building) without taking steps to 
mitigate the VI risk.  The YWCA is seeking funding from the Authority to pay for the costs of this VI assessment 
and cleanup planning.  

The KCBRA approved Work Order 13 at the July KCBRA meeting to seek concurrence with U.S. EPA on eligibility, 
prepare a Health and Safety Plan (HASP), and a Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) for the site. Additional services 
include Pressure Field Extension (PFE) testing to assess the building conditions and system requirements. Further 
cleanup planning involves the design of the vapor mitigation system (VMS). A budget for project management 
inclusive of coordination and communication regarding the EPA grant related costs is also included in this work 
order. Costs associated with the actual installation of the VMS are not included in the EPA grant request. The 
costs associated for installation of the VMS were approved for support by the KCBRA using the County’s LBRF. A 
separate work order for the use of LBRF funds will be prepared at the appropriate time.  

Eligibility was received for the site on August 9, 2023. In preparing to initiate PFE testing, it was determined that 
additional sampling is not needed to conduct the PFE testing and design the VMS. Since no physical sampling will 
occur, a SAP is not required to be submitted to the USEPA. A HASP has been created for field staff to safely access 
the site. As the site was not yet owned by YWCA, authorization to access the site was needed and was received. 
PFE testing was completed on September 5, 2023. Fishbeck has evaluated the test data and is preparing the VMS 
design specifications which are anticipated to be complete before the month’s end. YWCA has since closed on the 
property. 

 

110. Urban Exposure Initiative – 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan  
Project No: 231768 – W.O. 15 

Update:  

The property will be redeveloped by the owner, J&J Property Investing, LLC, to establish the Urban Exposure 
Initiative, whose mission is to promote entrepreneurial experiences and increase access to healthy foods and 
farming practices for people negatively impacted by inequities in local housing, healthcare, employment, and 
food systems. The vision for redevelopment includes creating a working year-round urban farm and attached 
micro grocery store/café to bring food closer to the community. The first floor will include spaces for the micro-
grocery/café/smoothie shop with classes offered to teach about hydroponic growing techniques. There will also 
be space for a therapy office on the first floor. The second floor is anticipated to be redeveloped into one 
residential unit. The Urban Exposure Initiative is working with Kalamazoo Valley Community College and the 
Edison Neighborhood Association to bring this vision forward. Some steps have already been taken toward 
redevelopment. Known asbestos-containing floor tile was properly abated; however, a comprehensive asbestos 
building survey has not been conducted. There is also suspected lead paint in the building. The KCBRA approved 
Work Order 15 at the September board meeting to complete eligibility, prepare a Health and Safety Plan (HASP) 
and Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP), and perform a Hazardous Materials Inspection (asbestos survey and limited 
paint chip sampling). It is intended that this property will become part of a City of Kalamazoo Brownfield Plan. 
Brownfield Plan evaluation activities are also approved in this Work Order to work with the city assessor to 
determine anticipated Future Taxable Value and run TIF modeling to determine if a Brownfield Plan would be an 
appropriate tool for this project. After the evaluation is complete, preparation of a Brownfield Plan was also 
approved, if deemed appropriate through the evaluation, to allow for the reimbursement of eligible activities 
needed to redevelop the property. Fishbeck is preparing eligibility for submission to the USEPA. 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
October 26, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 6 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\OCTOBER 
2023\KCBRA EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 10-26-23.DOCX 

111. 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo, Michigan  
Project No: 231766 – W.O. 16 

Update:  

Bobby Hopewell desires to redevelop a downtown Kalamazoo commercial property located at 702 W. Michigan 
Avenue. The property is an approximately 1,800-square-foot former automotive service station believed to have 
been developed in the early 1900s and located on a 0.16-acre parcel downtown in a historic area. Redevelopment 
plans are not finalized but intend to recognize the community’s desire for more entertainment and dining venues 
and will likely include selective interior demolition. Mr. Hopewell has site access control for the purposes of 
assessment prior to acquisition. Limited Phase II assessment data exists. A project application has been submitted 
to and accepted by the KCBRA requesting funding support through the use of the County’s U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) Assessment Grant. 

The scope of services approved in Work Order 16 consists of obtaining U.S. EPA eligibility, State of Michigan 
petroleum eligibility determination, Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessments (ESAs), and if needed a 
Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA), Due Care Documentation, and Brownfield Plan evaluation activities 
and preparation of a Brownfield Plan. A request for a petroleum eligibility determination from the State of 
Michigan has been prepared and submitted. An eligibility demonstration for hazardous substances has also been 
prepared and submitted to the USEPA. 

 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

10/26/2023
Page 1 of 3

Activity  Budget Estimates 
Project W.O. Site/Phase Total Invoice No. Invoice Date Total Invoiced Amount

Initial Grant Award 300,000.00$    
County 4 Personnel 1,200.00$    -$    
County 4 Travel 6,000.00$    KCBRA Travel 4,946.56$     1,053.44$    
County 4 Supplies 1,500.00$    -$    
County 4 Other -$    -$    

County Subtotal 8,700.00$    County Subtotal 4,946.56$    County Subtotal

Contractual - Envirologic Technologies, Inc. 291,300.00$    -$    -$    

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 5,000.00$    Invoice Total 08272 11/10/2021 118.50$  
08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$  
08471 1/6/2022 444.75$  

Project Subtotal 2,004.00$  Project Subtotal 2,996.00$   
Budget Returned* 2,400.00$   
Budget Remaining 596.00$   

210229 2 4 Community Outreach and Programmatic 2,500.00$    Invoice Total 08661 2/18/2022 132.02$  
Amendment #1 (approved 5-25-23) 2,500.00$    Invoice Total 08841 4/8/2022 104.56$  

5,000.00$    Invoice Total 08977 5/10/2022 359.38$  
Invoice Total 09127 6/13/2022 341.14$  
Invoice Total 09389 8/18/2022 209.13$  
Invoice Total 09619 10/12/2022 41.83$  
Invoice Total 09745 11/9/2022 352.93$  
Invoice Total 09857 12/12/2022 345.06$  
Invoice Total 09921 1/5/2023 73.20$  
Invoice Total 420295 2/16/2023 189.15$  
Invoice Total 421240 3/16/2023 66.05$  
Invoice Total 423211 5/10/2023 625.56$  
Invoice Total 424176 6/8/2023 334.25$  
Invoice Total 425337 7/12/2023 286.50$  
Invoice Total 426222 8/7/2023 1,093.13$  
Invoice Total 427546 9/7/2023 334.25$  
Invoice Total KCBRA** 55.00$  **Black Wall Street Event

Project Subtotal 4,943.14$  Project Subtotal 56.86$   

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 17,695.01$    Invoice Total 08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$    
Invoice Total 08842 4/8/2022 3,021.18$  
Invoice Total 08978 5/10/2022 156.15$  
Invoice Total 09513 9/16/2022 1,016.80$  

Project Subtotal 15,018.03$    Project Subtotal 2,676.98$   
Budget Returned 2,676.98$   
Budget Remaining -$    

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 52,850.00$    Invoice Total 09243 7/12/2022 614.29$  
Invoice Total 09296 8/4/2022 12,499.46$    
Invoice Total 09409 9/7/2022 2,778.21$  
Invoice Total 09636 10/21/2022 4,152.64$  
Invoice Total 09663 11/3/2022 875.04$  
Invoice Total 09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$  
Invoice Total 09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$  
Invoice Total 421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$    

Project Subtotal 52,404.00$    Project Subtotal 446.00$   

Invoice Breakdown
2 Soil Gas (447 W. North Street) & Vapor Pin (441 W. North St.) 11,000.00$    

09243 7/12/2022 324.13$  
09296 8/4/2022 5,677.51$  
09409 9/7/2022 151.63$  
09636 10/21/2022 3,480.86$  
09663 11/3/2022 216.34$  

Phase Subtotal 9,850.47$  Phase Subtotal 1,149.53$   

2 604 N. Westnedge (Phase II, UST Site Assessment) 29,350.00$    
Amendment #1 7,000.00$    09243 7/12/2022 290.16$  
Amendment #2 5,500.00$    09296 8/4/2022 6,821.95$  

41,850.00$    09409 9/7/2022 2,626.58$  
09636 10/21/2022 671.78$  
09663 11/3/2022 658.70$  
09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$  
09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$  
421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$    

Phase Subtotal 42,553.53$    Phase Subtotal (703.53)$   

220129 4 1,2 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 25,000.00$    Invoice Total 09245 7/12/2022 2,597.81$  
Invoice Total 09295 8/4/2022 11,669.06$    
Invoice Total 09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$  
Invoice Total 09637 10/21/2022 460.06$  

Project Subtotal 16,686.53$    Project Subtotal 8,313.47$   

Invoice Breakdown
1 Eligibility and Phase I ESAs 6,000.00$    

09245 7/12/2022 2,443.58$  
09295 8/4/2022 2,358.48$  
09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$  
09637 10/21/2022 248.33$  

Phase Subtotal 7,009.99$  Phase Subtotal (1,009.99)$   

2 GPR Surveys 19,000.00$    
09245 7/12/2022 154.23$  
09295 8/4/2022 9,310.58$  
09637 10/21/2022 211.73$  

Phase Subtotal 9,676.54$  Phase Subtotal 9,323.46$   

220154 6 3 Parchment Mill Site 20,000.00$    Invoice Total 09391 8/22/2022 4,442.58$  
Amendment #1 2,000.00$    Invoice Total 09515 9/16/2022 3,183.01$  

22,000.00$    Invoice Total 09629 10/17/2022 1,806.40$  
Invoice Total 09673 11/4/2022 2,343.59$  
Invoice Total 09860 12/12/2022 3,865.38$  
Invoice Total 09922 1/5/2023 400.46$  
Invoice Total 420293 2/16/2023 115.95$  
Invoice Total 421241 3/16/2023 573.53$  
Invoice Total 422260 4/13/2023 945.75$  
Invoice Total 423212 5/10/2023 1,214.35$  
Invoice Total 426223 8/7/2023 3,109.00$  

Project Subtotal 22,000.00$    Project Subtotal -$    

230922 7 2,3 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 8,000.00$     
424169 6/8/2023 548.40$    

Project Subtotal 548.40$    Project Subtotal 7,451.60$    

Grant 
Task

Number
Project 

Complete Total 

 Actual  Project Budget Remaining 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

10/26/2023
Page 2 of 3

Budget Returned 7,451.60$          
Budget Remaining -$                   

   Invoice Breakdown

2 Eligibilty and Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$               424169 6/8/2023 548.40$                           
Phase Subtotal 548.40$                           Phase Subtotal 4,451.60$          

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$          

230924 8 1,2,3 Comstock Charter Township, Comstock Center Redevelopment 30,000.00$             Invoice Total 424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$                        
Invoice Total 426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$                        
Invoice Total 426220 8/7/2023 597.55$                           
Invoice Total 427544 9/7/2023 818.33$                           
Invoice Total 429028* 10/9/2023 1,322.63$                        

Project Subtotal 6,738.51$                        Project Subtotal 23,261.49$         

  Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibilty and Phase I 4,000.00$               424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$                        
426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$                        

Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$                        Phase Subtotal -$                   

2 Phase II 18,000.00$             426220 8/7/2023 597.55$                           
427544 9/7/2023 818.33$                           
429028 10/9/2023 1,322.63$                        

Phase Subtotal 2,738.51$                        Phase Subtotal 15,261.49$         

2 Bea/Due Care 4,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$          

3 Brownfield Plan 4,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$          

230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion 15,000.00$             Invoice Total 424168 6/8/2023 730.55$                            
Invoice Total 425256 7/10/2023 731.87$                           
Invoice Total 426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$                        
Invoice Total 427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$                        
Invoice Total 429203* 10/10/2023 546.65$                           

Project Subtotal 4,104.40$                        Project Subtotal 3,895.60$          

Invoice Breakdown
3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 8,000.00$               424168 6/8/2023 730.55$                           

425256 7/10/2023 731.87$                           
426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$                        
427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$                        
429203 10/9/2023 546.65$                           

Phase Subtotal 4,104.40$                        Phase Subtotal 3,895.60$          

3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 7,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 7,000.00$          
Phase Budget Returned* 7,000.00$          
Phase Budget Remaining -$                   

230923 10,14 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion 12,500.00$             Invoice Total 424164 6/8/2023 480.25$                            
Invoice Total 426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$                        
Invoice Total 426219 8/7/2023 862.34$                           
Invoice Total 427542 9/7/2023 488.16$                           
Invoice Total 429024* 10/9/2023 2,733.55$                        

Project Subtotal 6,090.08$                        Project Subtotal 3,266.45$          

Invoice Breakdown
10 3 Project Planning Associated with Plan Amendment 6,500.00$               424164 6/8/2023 480.25$                           

426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$                        
426219 8/7/2023 862.34$                           
427542 9/7/2023 488.16$                           

Phase Subtotal 3,356.53$                        Phase Subtotal 3,143.47$          
Phase Budget Returned* 3,143.47$          

` Phase Budget Remaining -$                   
Invoice Breakdown

14 3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 6,000.00$               429024 10/9/2023 2,733.55$                        

Phase Subtotal 2,733.55$                        Phase Subtotal 3,266.45$          

231417 13 3 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive City of Parchment 23,250.00$             Invoice Total 428218 9/18/2023 1,230.54$                        
Invoice Total 429320* 10/12/2023 4,757.52$                        

Project Subtotal 5,988.06$                        Project Subtotal 17,261.94$         

Invoice Breakdown
3 Eligibility / HASP/ SAP/ Project Management 3,000.00$               428218 9/18/2023 882.23$                           

Phase Subtotal 882.23$                           Phase Subtotal 2,117.77$          

3 PFE Testing 5,250.00$               428218 9/18/2023 348.31$                           
429320 10/12/2023 4,150.34$                        

Phase Subtotal   4,498.65$                        Phase Subtotal 751.35$             

3 VMS Design 15,000.00$             429320 10/12/2023 607.18$                           
Phase Subtotal 607.18$                           Phase Subtotal 14,392.82$         

231418 11 1,2,3 Redman Ventures, LLC 11,200.00$             Invoice Total 427548 9/7/2023 4,887.17$                        
Invoice Total 429026* 10/9/2023 1,200.18$                        

Project Subtotal 6,087.35$                        Project Subtotal 5,112.65$          



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

10/26/2023
Page 3 of 3

Invoice Breakdown
1 Eligibility Update & Phase I ESA 3,200.00$               427548 9/7/2023 2,752.09$                        

429026 10/9/2023 447.91$                           
Phase Subtotal 3,200.00$                        Phase Subtotal -$                   

2 ASB -  Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$               427548 9/7/2023 2,135.08$                        
429026 10/9/2023 752.27$                           

Phase Subtotal   2,887.35$                        Phase Subtotal 2,112.65$          

3 BP Eval - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               
Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$          

231419 12 3 Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 22,500.00$             Invoice Total 427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                           
Invoice Total 429030* 10/9/2023 479.03$                           

Project Subtotal 1,278.93$                        Project Subtotal 21,221.07$         

Invoice Breakdown
3 Response Activity Plan/Conceptual Site Model 17,500.00$             427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                           

429030 10/9/2023 143.25$                           
Phase Subtotal 943.15$                           Phase Subtotal 16,556.85$         

429030 10/9/2023 335.78$                           

3 Brownfield Cleanup Planning 5,000.00$               Phase Subtotal 335.78$                           Phase Subtotal 4,664.22$          

xxxxxx 15 2,3 Urban Exposure Initiative, 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo 16,200.00$             Invoice Total -$                                 

Project Subtotal -$                                 Project Subtotal 16,200.00$         

Invoice Breakdown
2 Eligibility/HASP/SAP/HMI 7,200.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 7,200.00$          

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$          

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$          

xxxxxx 16 1, 2,3 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo 44,000.00$             Invoice Total -$                                 

Project Subtotal -$                                 Project Subtotal 44,000.00$         

Invoice Breakdown
1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 4,000.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$          

2 Phase II ESA/HASP/SAP 18,500.00$             -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 18,500.00$         

2 Hazardous Materials Inspection 7,000.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 7,000.00$          

2 BEA/Due Care 5,500.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 5,500.00$          

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$          

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$               -$                                 

Phase Subtotal -$                                 Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$          

Approved Project Budgets Subtotal 310,195.01$           Invoice Total 143,891.43$                     Budgets Remaining 143,631.53$       

Estimated Contractual Budget Remaining (18,895.01)$           147,408.57$                     
Check 291,300.00$       

Project Budgets Returned 
210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 2,676.98$               
230922 7 2 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 7,451.60$               
210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation* 2,400.00$               
230923 10 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion* 3,143.47$               
230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion* 7,000.00$               

Available Contractual Budget Remaining 3,777.04$               

Notes:
*Pending
 
 

 Actual Contractual Budget Remaining 
and un-invoiced 



Scope of Services

Contract for Professional Services 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority  

Applicable to Contract Dated March 7, 2022, Addendum No. 1 and assigned to FISHBECK 
Work Order No. 2023-2 Dated October 26, 2023 

Between 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD And FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 2960 INTERSTATE PARKWAY 
201 WEST KALAMAZOO AVENUE  KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49048 
KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49007-3777 

Subject Matter: YWCA – 550 S. Riverview, Parchment, Michigan – VMS Installation 
Funding Source: 24370300-80100 – Brownfield EA and Admin and LBRF 

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date ______________ 

Item 8biii



Work Order No. 2023-2 
October 26, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\WORK ORDERS AND CONTRACTS\WORK ORDER 2023-2 - YWCA_2023_1026.DOCX 

I. Scope of Services 
At the time Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA) of Kalamazoo, Michigan entered into the purchase 
agreement for the building located at 550 S. Riverview Drive, Parchment, Michigan, YWCA was unaware of the 
potential cost associated with addressing vapor intrusion (VI) concerns. YWCA is in need of leveraging funding 
sources to complete the assessment, design, and installation of the Vapor Mitigation System (VMS). Requested 
funding through the County’s EPA Assessment Grant for assessment, planning, and design of a VMS was approved 
in July.  

Fishbeck conducted a Phase II Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) of the property on June 7, 2023, to evaluate 
the Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs) identified in the May 17, 2023, Phase I ESA. The Phase II ESA 
sampling indicated that volatile organic compounds (VOCs), specifically TCE and PCE, were detected on the 
property in both soil and groundwater at levels exceeding Non-Residential Volatilization to Indoor Air Pathway 
(VIAP) Screening Levels. PCE was also detected in soil gas beneath the existing building at levels approaching VIAP 
Screening Levels.  

The soil and groundwater data indicate that there is a potential for a vapor intrusion exposure for the structure. 
While the soil gas data suggest that the Vapor Intrusion Pathway is not currently complete, the results are based 
on a one-time sampling event. Current EGLE guidance requires four quarterly sampling events without VIAP 
exceedances in order to eliminate the Vapor Intrusion Pathway for the subject building.  

YWCA has reservations in occupying the building that may risk the health of its employees, clients, tenant, and 
visitors without taking steps to mitigate the potential VI risk. In order to address this potential risk, YWCA will 
require the presumptive remedy of installing a VMS. Fishbeck concurs that this is a reasonable approach 
considering the time restraints related to occupancy of the building and the uncertain outcome of future 
sampling that may or may not resolve this concern. YWCA has requested funding support through the Kalamazoo 
County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) to complete the 
installation of the VMS. The project application and budget request of $100,000 through the use of the County’s 
LBRF was approved in July.  

Proposed scope of services included in this work order consist of installation of the VMS and associated activities. 

Vapor Mitigation System Installation 
Fishbeck has completed Pressure-Field Extension (PFE) testing, inclusive of a site inspection to evaluate site 
conditions, installation of test suction points and test monitoring points, completion of PFE tests, and collection of 
off-gas samples to evaluate compliance with Air Discharge Limitations. Fishbeck has evaluated the test data and is 
preparing the VMS design specifications which are anticipated to be complete before the month’s end. 

Within the scope of this Work Order funded through the LBRF, Fishbeck proposes to select a contractor for the 
installation of the VMS through a selective bidding process. The prepared design specifications will be used as 
bidding specifications. Once a contractor for installation is selected, Fishbeck will complete oversight of the 
installation to ensure compliance with the design specifications. Fishbeck will also complete an Operations 
Maintenance and Monitoring (OM&M) Plan and complete one year of performance monitoring after the system 
is installed.  

II. Compensation 
Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT 
not-to-exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 



Work Order No. 2023-2 
October 26, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 3 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\WORK ORDERS AND CONTRACTS\WORK ORDER 2023-2 - YWCA_2023_1026.DOCX 

VMS Installation ........................................................................................................................................... $ 100,000 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #2023-2 ....................................................................................... $ 100,000 

III. Schedule 
The design specifications are anticipated to be completed in approximately one week. Once the specifications are 
complete, Fishbeck can begin the contractor selection process which is anticipated to take three weeks. 
Depending on contractor availability, the installation of the VMS and associated oversight will take approximately 
three to four weeks from contractor selection. After the system is installed, initial performance monitoring can 
begin. The OM&M Plan will be prepared. Then one year of performance monitoring will be conducted, 
anticipated to be completed January 2025. 



Registration is now open!
2023 Virtual Great Lakes PFAS Summit 

December 5-7, 2023

The Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) is excited to
announce that registration is now open for the fourth annual virtual Great Lakes PFAS

Summit on December 5-7, 2023. 

Participants will include local, state, and federal government officials; environmental
consultants and vendors; academic researchers and students; industry managing PFAS
contamination; and community organizations. The Summit will be held virtually through a
combination of Zoom and the event app, Whova. All registrants will have the ability to
network, chat with peers, visit with exhibitors, and contact speakers.

 VIEW THE PRELIMINARY AGENDA

Register today!

Get information on the most current and reliable science and policy.
Network with hundreds of professionals from around the Great Lakes Region using
our online event platform, Whova. 
Explore current and future research topics related to PFAS.
Hear the latest from federal, state, and local officials on their challenges and
innovative solutions in dealing with these "forever chemicals."
Earn Continuing Education Hours (CEH) / Professional Development Hours (PDH). 
(The Summit does not provide water operator CECs.)

All of this for only $35!

Registration Deadline: December 1, 2023

Michigan.gov/EGLEevents

#GLPFASSummit

PROGRAM QUESTIONS:
Nicole Sanabria: SanabriaN@Michigan.gov

REGISTRATION QUESTIONS:
Alana Berthold: BertholdA@Michigan.gov

Joel Roseberry: RoseberryJ@Michigan.gov

Item 8d



Item 8ei-ii & Item 8fi-ii



Item 8eiii



Item 8fiii



Item 9a






